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7. DESCRIPTION

The Frederick Douglass Square Historic District is an architecturally cohesive late-19th century urban
neighborhood, significant as the sole’ surviving fragment of one of Boston’s final speculative landfill ventures.
Situated in Lower Roxbury, just across the South End border, this five-acre district is characterized by a dense
network of narrow streets lined with two- and three-story Panel Brick and Queen Anne row houses. While the
neighborhood contains several outstanding examples of early apartment architecture, it is best known for its
concentration of single-family row houses associated with the philanthropic activity of Boston’s prominent social
reformer, Robert Treat Paine, Jr.

This district derives its name from its proximity to Frederick Douglass Square, a minor crossroads located two
miles southwest of downtown Boston. So named by order of Mayor James Michael Curley on February 3, 1917,
this open space at the junction of Cabot, Tremont, and Hammond streets honors black abolitionist Frederick
Douglass (1818 - 1895). Situated at the heart of an African-American community, this square achieved local
prominence as a forum for 20th-century political rallies and Civil Rights protests. Dignitaries known to have
addressed the community from this location include: Mayor Curley, Senator Edward Brooks, Senator Edward
Kennedy, Coretta King, and Duke Ellington. In 1901, noted Civil Rights activist William Munroe Trotter
published one of Boston’s first Black newspapers, The Boston Guardian, from a Tremont Street office which
faced onto the square (no longer extant).

The district’s surviving brick row houses represent less than one-sixth of the original subdivision as developed in
the fourth quarter of the 19th century. Demolition associated with various urban renewal projects largely
destroyed Lower Roxbury’s housing stock during the late-1960s. The resulting landscape is one of an isolated
brick row house nucleus, partially encircled by low-rise public housing developments which, in turn, are bounded
by three major surface arteries: Tremont Street to the north, Melnea Cass Boulevard to the west, and Shawmut
Avenue to the south,

Due to the abrupt visual contrast between this well-preserved node of brick row houses and the surrounding
early-1970s public housing, the district’s boundaries are easily discernible. This compact, irregularly-shaped
district is roughly-bounded by 36-108 Hammond Street to the northeast; both sides of Westminster Street to the
southeast; 71-85 Windsor Street to the southwest; and Warwick Street (excluding the public housing and 1950s
church at 41-90 Warwick) to the northwest. The district encompasses all structures along the following streets
located within these boundaries: Greenwich Street, Greenwich Court, and Sussex Street, A small projecting
node of brick row houses at 994-98 Cabot Street and 1002 Tremont Street are also considered contributing
structures.

While roughly contemporaneous with the state-sponsored filling of the Back Bay, this landfill project represents
one of the last land creation projects undertaken by a private syndicate in Boston. Originally a large expanse of
tidal salt marsh, this property was drained and filled by the Tremont Improvement Company in the late 1860s.
The ensuing flat expanse was platted with eight wide cross streets, most of them 50 feet wide, and subdivided
into 257 houses lots. Clearly intended for row house development, frontage ranged from 20 to 25 feet, and lot

(continued)
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depth varied between 64 and 138 feet. With an average dimension of 2,000 square feet, these house lots were
comparable in size to those of the adjacent South End development. While platted in a grid pattern, Hammond
Street connected the major boulevards of Tremont Street and Shawmut Avenue at a 45° angle. Thus Hammond
Street contains several large, irregularly-shaped comer parcels in an otherwise standard rectilinear subdivision.
Deed restrictions stipulated a ten-foot set back for Hammond Street properties and an eight-foot set back for
buildings fronting onto Madison Square. Madison Square was a grand 143,800 square-foot park, situated
towards the western end of the development. Many of the prized parcels fronting the square were developed
with marble facade row houses; this prestigious section is no longer extant.

The Frederick Douglass Square Historic District represents approximately forty lots situated along the eastern
edge of the original 1866 development scheme. Of these surviving lots, many were subdivided further in the
1880s to accommodate a greater number of philanthrapic housing units. The district currently contains 116
contributing structures; there are five apartment blocks, and 111 brick row houses, of which seventy-seven were
financed by Robert Treat Paine, Jr. In addition to the homogeneity of the district’s philanthropic archifecture,
the neighborhood practice of painting stone sills and lintels with bright glossy colors contributes positively to the
area’s unique sense of place.

Constructed between 1866 and 1873, 71, 73, and 75 Windsor Street are the oldest surviving single-family
dwellings within the district. These flat-facade mansard-roofed row houses stand three stories high, three bays
wide, and two piles deep. Ornament is confined to the low-relief carved brownstone lintels above the entry bay,
the paired bracketed eaves, and the pedimented dormers. A low stoop leads to the recessed main entry; 71 and
73 Windsor Street retain their original scrolled cast iron rails.

In 1875, Robert Treat Paine, Jr. erected two bowfronted brick buildings at 86 and 88 Hammond Street. These
four-story structures took the side-passage row house form; each bay was lit with 2/2 sash windows. Believed to
have been designed for four-family occupancy, the facades were embellished with dressed sandstone sills and
lintels, Eastlake-carved entry lintels, and corbelled comices. Sometime between 1876 and 1882, speculative
developer J. Fagan erected four contiguous brick structures on an adjacent parcel at 90-96 Hammond Street.
Also designed for four-family occupancy, these row houses stand four stories high, three bays wide, and two
piles deep. The facades of these side-passage dwellings are distinguished by projecting polygonal bays, Eastlake-
carved sandstone lintels, decorative brick panels, and corbelled cornices.

Between 1886 and 1890, Robert Treat Paine, Jr., financed the construction of over eighty brick row houses
within this district. In order to economize, Paine subdivided most standard 2200 square foot parcels, creating
two smaller house lots segregated by a narrow rear alley. He further altered the Tremont Improvement Company
master plan by carving Sussex Street and Greenwich Court out of existing lots. Paine’s architect George W.
Pope designed predominantly single-family dwellings for this philanthropic venture.

These diminutive structures share the same side-passage row house plan; most stand two stories high, two bays
wide, and two piles deep. The first floor contains a front parlor and rear dining room, with a central switch-back
stairway aligned against one of the party walls. This narrow stairway leads to the second story which contains
front and rear bedrooms, with a centrally-located bathroom. A skylight provides natural light to the stairway and

(continued)
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to the bathroom via a transom situated above the bathroom door. In keeping with traditional row house
planning, the kitchen is located in the basement, opening onto a tiny rear garden. The small room at the front of
the basement was used for coal storage; fuel delivery was achieved through a small strect-facing window and a
chute. The interiors were embellished with stock architectural trim, inciuding mouided chair rails, beaded board
wainscoting, carved newel posts, and intetior gas lighting fixtures. The interior doors and windows were
trimmed with moulded architraves and bull’s-eye corner blocks.

Housing reformers argued that dwellings constructed for the poor not only should be comfortable and sanitary
but also beautiful, "so as to educate and raise their tastes.”' This interest in embellishing philanthropic housing
with architectural omament originated in England; an 1874 visitor to Shaftesbury Park commented on its "long
straight ranges of two-story buildings, varied by hoods over the doors, and occasional turrets..."* The monotony
of Shaftesbury Park’s strestscapes was relieved by projecting oriels and towers, capped by embattled parapets and
steep-pointed roofs. Similarly omate, the facades of Paine’s modest row houses were differentiated through the
addition of the following picturesque masses: bow-fronts, towered polygonal oriels, and parapeted square oriels.

The earliest philanthropic housing in the district dates from 1886 when Paine constructed row houses along
Sussex, Haimnmond, and Greenwich streets. Of the twenty-two flat-facade row houses constructed on Sussex
Street, a narrow dog-legged street which connects Warwick to Hammond Street, fifteen survive - 1, 3, 5-8, and
22-38 Sussex Street. These Sussex dwellings are the smallest within the district, with an average footprint of
4438 square feet. Each row house has an asymmetrical two-bay facade with a shallow recessed side-passage
entry. The original window treatment consisted of paired 1/1 sash windows; a small stained glass window in a
segmental opening lit the bay above the entry and a window at the foundation level provided access for coal
delivery. Architectural decoration was limited to dressed stone lintels and sills, a chequer work band of trim,
and a corbelled brick comice. Alterations to this row include replacement sash, as well as loss of the stained
glass windows, original paneled doors and transoms. Three-story versions of this paradigmatic form were
constructed at 68-78 Hammond Street in the same year. Believed to have been constructed for single-family
occupancy, this row is distinguished by a band of terra-cotta tiles with a floral design across the third-story level.
Wider than its neighbors, the corner building at 80 Hammond Street was designed for two-family occupancy
with ground-floor commercial space. Evidence of its retail history survives in the cast iron store front {(although
the original plate glass windows have been replaced with clapboard siding and small paired windows) and the
faded commercial signage painted on the Sussex Street facade.

The Greenwich Street row houses of 1886 represent a more ornate and roomier version of the Sussex Street
structures, with a standard 12’ 6" width and 32’ depth. The row at 10-40 Greenwich Street was enlivened with
towered, two-story polygonal oriels projecting from alternating row houses. These pressed metal oriels are
embellished with raised panels, a chequer work motif at the cornice level, and a slate roof. In addition to
replacement windows, this row has been altered by aluminum siding (two of the eight oriels are encased) and by
the installation of metal awnings. A December 1994 fire destroyed #36 Greenwich Street, although the
remaining structures in this row are intact. Across the way at 13-47 Greenwich Street, Pope designed row
houses with projecting two-story square oriels, Each pressed metal oriel is distinguished by raised panels, a
dentiled cornice, and a false mansard parapet. The parcels near the corner of Greenwich Court, specifically 19,
21, 39 and 41 Greenwich Street, were developed with three-story row houses believed to have been designed

{continued)
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for single-family occupancy. In keeping with the prevailing idiom, these corner buildings were outfitted with
three-story, pressed metal square oriels.

In 1887, Pope altered his design slightly with the introduction of two-story bow-fronted row houses along
Greenwich Court (originally known as Procyon Place). The eight structures situated on either side of this short
dead-end street, 23-37 Greenwich Court (inclusive) retain the standard side-passage plan. They are
distinguished from Pope’s earlier design in their use of rough granite sills and lintels. Window treatment
consisted of 2/2 sash in the bow and a segmented stained glass window above the entry. The chequer work band
of irim and corbelled cornice recall Pope’s earlier designs.

In 1888, Paine’s philanthropic row houses filled a gap along Greenwich Street, spread down Warwick Street and
wrapped around the corner of Windsor Street. Most of the buildings dating from this year, 49-55 Greenwich
Street, 34-48 Warwick Street, and 77-81 Windsor Street, take the two-story bow fronted form. Decorative
terra-cotta plaques with scroll, garland, and stylized flower motifs were installed above the entries. Surviving
three-story bow fronted row houses stand at 83 Windsor Street and 56 Greenwich Street. Believed to have
been constructed for single-family occupancy, these three-story structures exhibit the same decorative elements as
the two-story version. Two-family apartment structures with ground-level commercial space were erected on the
corner lots at 57 Greenwich Strect and 85 Windsor Street. Rather than bows, these buildings have two-story
pressed metal oriels with decorative raised panels projecting from their facades. 85 Windsor Street retains its
original cast-iron storefront, while the plate glass windows at 57 Greenwich Street have been replaced with a
wood-shingle facade.

A series of 1890 brick row houses on Warwick Street mark the close of Paine’s construction activity within this
district. The structures at 14-20 and 15-23 Warwick Street display the standard bow-fronted, side-passage row
house form; height varies between two-stories (14, 15, 16, 17, and 19 Warwick) and three-stories (18, 20, 21,
and 23 Warwick). ‘Architectural ornament is confined to the corbelled comnice and the splayed brick lintels with
rough cut keystones.

While Paine was responsible for most of the district’s surviving architectural stock, three other developers also
made significant contributions to the area’s architectural character. In 1887, developer Paul V. Watson erected
five brick row houses at the north-west corner of Hammond and Warwick streets (102-108 Hammond Street
and 1 Warwick Street). These bow-fronted structures, designed by architect/builder Benjamin J. Connolly, were
austerely ornamented with rough brownstone lintels and a corbelled brick cornice. Designed for three-family
occupancy the buildings at 104-108 Hammond Street and 1 Warwick Street measure three bays in width, two
piles in depth, and are symmetrically fenestrated with 2/2 sash windows. The four-story corner building at 102
Hammond Street was constructed for three-family occupancy with ground-level commercial space. Benjamin J.
Connolly acquired and developed the adjacent parcel at 3-9 Warwick Street in 1892. This row of bow-fronted
dwellings displays a richer use of architectural ornament than Connolly’s designs for 102-108 Hammond Street.
These three-family dwellings, measuring 20 feet in width and 40 feet in depth, were embellished with decorative
brickwork, including bands of chequer work trim and a corbelled cornice. Rough-cut brownstone quoins
highlight the side-passage entries.

(continued)
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The district’s last vacant parcel, located at the corner of Greenwich and Westminster streets, was developed in
1893 by Franklin T. Rose. Rose hired contractors G. M. Fernold & Sons to erect this row of four flat-facade
brick structures, each standing three stories high, 19 feet wide, and 30 feet deep. The facades of 2-8 Greenwich
Street are asymmetrically fenestrated with segmented window openings, originally it with 2/2 sash. Decorative
bands of brickwork articulate each story, culminating in a corbelled cornice. Other distinguishing architectural
elements include the deeply-recessed arched entries, the rough granite sills, and the finial-topped fire wall
partitions.

Hammond Street possess three exceptional multi-family dwellings; the earliest of these, known as Henderson
House, stands at 64 Hammond Street. In 1878 William H. Wallace commissioned architect Thomas R. White
to design this eight-unit "family hotel." This impressive brick block stands four stories high, five bays wide, and
several piles deep; each story contained two units. This flat-facade structure is richly ornamented with patterned
brick work and contrasting stone trim. ' Brick pilasters frame the central bay which is further articulated by the
stark contrast of white marble window and door surrounds against the red brick facade. The outer windows were
accented by moulded lintels carved from Ohio sandstone. Remarkably well-preserved, the only alterations of
note include the replacement of original sash and the removal of the moulded lintels on the right side of the
building (replaced with dressed splayed lintels). -

In 1885, Hayward P. Hall constructed The Delano, a large apartment building which wraps around the north-
west corner of Hammond and Westminster streets. This Queen Anne brick block, with separate deeply-recessed
arched entries at 60 Hammond Street and 11 Westminster Street, was designed by architect Antoine Xavier.

A letter dated July 6, 1885, from Mr. Hall to Boston’s Building Inspector refers to the Delano as "two family
hotels." This four-story corner structure contained sixteen apartment units. The building’s facade is
asymmetrically fenestrated; its brick-quoined window openings display the following aesthetic hierarchy: round-
arched across the first and second story; segmental-arched across the third story; and square across the fourth
story. A pressed-metal polygonal oriel projects from the Westminster/Hammond corner. In keeping with the
Victorian fondness of patterned surfaces, the facade is ornamented with chequer work brick panels; brownstone
string courses; corbelled cornice; and floral terra cotta tiles. Similarly omate, the oriel is embossed with floral
medallions, decorative panels, and an imitation fish-scale tiled parapet. This well-preserved structure has been
minimally altered by the addition of exterior gutters, the installation of replacement doors and sash, and the
application of fire balconies along Hammond Street.

The last large apartment building erected in this district dates from 1888; it occupies a corner parcel with entries
onto 12 Westminster Street and 46 Hammond Street. William H. Smith hired architect and builder Henry P.
Hall to construct this triangular-shaped brick building. This four-story, Queen Anne structure was designed to
accommodate sixteen apartments, four.on each floor. The building’s sculptural quality is emphasized by the
comer cylindrical bay with towered conical roof, the arched parapet along the Hammond facade, and the
pyramidal-roofed stair tower on the Westminster facade. Window openings adhere to the following hierarchy:
arched across the first story; segmented across the second and third story, and square across the fourth story.

(continued)
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The facade is enlivened with brownstone string courses, a paneled chimney, and a corbelled comice. The deeply
recessed arched openings with brownstone impost blocks are evocative of H. H. Richardson’s architecture.

While dominated by apartment blocks, philanthropic housing, and speculative development, this district also
contains six individually constructed row houses. Erected between 1873 and 1882, the four-story High Victorian
Gothic row house at 36 Hammond Street is remarkable for its Stick-style door hood, ornate polychromatic
banding, and corbelled comice. An austere flat-facade row house with deeply recessed arched entry stands at 62
Hammeond Street; designed by G. H. Wetmore, this four-story building was built for Daniel Swan in 1887.
Cabot Street’s isolated node of three, flat-facade brick structures represents the stylistic development of row
house architecture in the late 19th century. The earliest structure, 994 Cabot Street, was constructed between
1873 and 1882. This exceptionally well-preserved three-story mansard-roofed row house is distinguished by its
bracketed cornice, fish scale roof slates, and intact wooden commercial storefront. The four-story building at
996 Cabot Street, minimally ornamented with Eastlake-carved sandstone lintels, was erected between 1882 and
1884 to house apartments and ground-floor retail space. The adjacent four-story building at 998 Cabot Street
dates from the late 1890s and is austerely detailed with plain dressed lintels, an arched entry with keystone and
impost blocks, and a corbelled cornice.

There are two significant gaps within the district. The demolition of four Warwick Street row houses (between
Sussex and Greenwich streets) was somewhat mitigated by the 1980s conversion of this vacant lot into a
community park. Enclosed by a chainlink fence on three sides and an unadorned wrought iron fence along
Warwick Street, this 4,600 square foot park is simply landscaped with perimeter deciduous trees and annual
flower beds; furniture is limited to picnic tables and barbecue equipment. The district’s other vacant lot,
adjacent to 14 Warwick Street, remains unimproved. Also noteworthy are the young street trees which shade the
district’s narrow streets. A 1995 fire destroyed the interior of 36 Greenwich Street, a centrally-located rowhouse,
although the structure’s front and rear facades survive. '

Avrchaeological Description

The Frederick Douglas Square Historic District is densely developed and occupied by many historic structures.
Open spaces contain backyards and small, private, paved parking lots. A large, open lot located on the south
side of Warwick Street (between Sussex and Hammond Streets) has become a dumping ground for the
neighborhood. This parcel also contains a small, cement, triangular porch foundation with a decorative wall, and
a fireplace/chimney unit which abuts Warwick Street. The area within and swirounding the district is noticeably
level, due to the filling process of the mud flats, marshlands and bays in 1866. No archaeological remains are
visible in this district.

No prehistoric sites are located in the Frederick Douglas Square Historic District, however 10 are located within
a one mile radius. Site 19-SU-77 is located very close to the district and includes Middle (ca. 7500-5000 B.P.)
and Late Archaic (ca. 5000-3000 B.P.) components. The site was identified as a lithic workshop and contained
many artifacts including 431 pieces of chipping debris (mostly felsite), a reworked Atlantic point, a projectile
fragment -

(continued)
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and three bifacial blades. This site contributed signiﬁcént information to the prehistoric record. Prehistoric sites
located within the district would have been submerged, and the land filling processes would have protected them.
Prehistoric survivals that may exist include temporary camp sites, or maritime oriented sites, like fish weirs.

{end)

8. . STATEMENT OF HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE

The Frederick Douglass Square Historic District is an important remnant of one of Boston's last privately-
financed speculative landfill ventures. In this instance a Lower Roxbury salt marsh was transformed into an
attractive neighborhood of spacious avenues and brick row houses. While possessing several outstanding
examples of early apartment design, this area’s architectural character is largely defined by the diminutive Queen
Anne brick row houses erected for Boston’s urban poor by prominent social reformer, Robert Treat Paine, Jr.
The district’s period of significance extends from 1866 (when Tremont Improvement Company platted the filled
marsh) to 1946 (the fifty year cutoff point for National Register nominations). The Frederick Douglass Square
Historic District possesses integrity of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling and association
and meets Criteria A and C on the local level for listing on the National Register of Historic Places.

Roxbury marks the geographic center of the City of Boston. This urban community of approximately three
square miles is nestled between five city neighborhoods: the South End, Dorchester, Roslindale, Jamaica Plain,
and Mission Hill. The sixth town incorporated within the Massachusetts Bay Colony, Roxbury’s original 1630
land grant streiched eight miles in length, from the Boston Neck to the Charles River in Dedham, and two miles
in width, from the Dorchester border to the Muddy River in Brookline. The town’s original borders remained
intact until the partition of West Roxbury (including the areas of Jamaica Plain, Roslindale and Forest Hills) in
1851,

At the time of European settlement Roxbury’s landscape was a rich array of forests, ponds, river valleys, and
ocean side marshes. Mainland Roxbury was connected to the Shawmut peninsula via a low lying isthmus, the
"Neck," separating the Charles River tidal basin from the South Bay. As the only mainland connection to
Boston, Roxbury evolved into a transportation nexus. The Neck served as the primary artery, funneling traffic
through Lower Roxbury to points south and west. Land rose from sea level marshes to the Roxbury highlands
by a series of drumlins. Indigenous conglomerate rocks termed "Roxbury puddingstone,” are strewn throughout
the highland area. The town derived its name from these rocky outcroppings, with "Rocksborough,"
"Rocksbury,” and "Roxberry" appearing in early accounts.

Roxbury was founded by a group of settlers who arrived with Governor John Winthrop’s party in 1630. Led by
William Pynchon, many among the group were natives of Nazing, a rural village in Essex County, England. In
1636, Pynchon left Roxbury for the Connecticut River Valley, where he founded Springfield, Massachusetts,
The town’s leadership fell to John Eliot, William Curtis, and William Heath; all three arrived with a second

{continued)
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wave of English settlers in 1632. A 1634 visitor described early Roxbury as a thriving settlement where "the
inhabitants have fair houses, store of cattle, impaled corne fields and fruitful gardens."> Animal husbandry,
leather production, and agricultural pursuits sustained Roxbury’s economy from settlement to the early 19th
century.

Situated beyond the Neck at the base of Roxbury’s uplands, the marshes known as "Roxbury Flats" were an
important natural resource. According to noted local antiquarian Francis S. Drake, "Each settler had a piece of
marsh land for the salt hay, one acre of salt marsh being equal in value to ten of woodiand or two of corm or
pasture land."* In addition to harvesting salt hay for livestock fodder, the marshes also atiracted small-scale
brick making interests due to the proximity of clay and hay. Drake further reports,

The marshes bordering the Neck were covered at high tide, and being a favorite resort for birds, were much
frequented by sportsmen. As early as 1713 the town of Roxbury prohibited gunning on the Neck, and in
1785 was obliged to place sentinels there to prevent this desecration of the Sabbath.’

Due to the expanse of marsh along Roxbury’s eastern border, the town was long dependent on Boston’s deep-
water harbor to export and import goods. In 1775, four local entrepreneurs financed the construction of the
Roxbury Canal. Completed in 1795, the canal greatly facilitated the transportation of Roxbury’s goods and
produce, saving two miles of overland carriage transport. Two of the canal’s investors, Aaron and Charles
Davis, erected long frame warehouses near "Town Dock," the popular reference for the canal terminus. The
Davis Brothers were proprietors of a packing provision facility, a distillery, and a tannery.® In addition to
interests in the canal and its expanding industrial base, the Davis family owned a large Lower Roxbury estate.
Adjacent to the Roxbury/Boston border, the Davis homestead was located on the north side of Washington Street,
for many years the only road traversing the Neck. The great salt marsh situated to the rear of the Davis property
would ultimately bé acquired by the Tremont Improvement Company for its spéculative Jandfill venture.

One of the earliest references to Washington Street dates from 1650 when the Town of Boston paid Peter Oliver
to maintain the highway along the Neck "sufficient for carte and horse.” In order to stem erosion of this
tenuous overland link, Boston’s selectmen in 1785 conveyed parcels along the Neck with the proviso that the
new owners erect barriers to exclude tide-water.® The Federal era marked the first serious investment in the
Neck, with development spreading from Boston across the isthmus.

With space growing scarce on the peninsula, rope makers, candle manufacturers and the like began to eye
the waste lands where the Neck widened as it approached Roxbury, which a 1797 Boston town meeting had
begun to consider as a “very valuable property of the town.” The Selectmen, under Bulfinch’s
chairmanship, presented to the March 1801 town meeting a plan for developing the Neck into streets laid out
in a regular rectangular pattern. The monotony was to be varied by Columbia Square, an oval grass plot
bounded by four streets, with Washington Street running through its center, on the site of the present
Blackstone and Franklin Squares.’

This residential development along the Neck, known as the "New South End," was regulated by City-imposed
deed restrictions stipulating building setback, height, frontage, and material requirements. Of the South End,

{continued)
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Whitehill wrote,

During the first half of the nineteenth century, the area, although laid out into streets, developed siowly, but
beginning with the fifties it rapidly grew into a region of symmetrical blocks of high-shouldered,
comfortable red brick or brownstone houses, bow-fronted and high-stooped, with mansard roofs, ranged
along spacious avenues, intersected by cross streets that occasionally widened into tree-shaded squares and
parks, whose ceniral gardens were enclosed by neat cast iron fences.™

As residential construction crept along the peninsula from the east, the Roxbury Flats to the west were eyed for
their industrial potential. In 1821, the Boston and Roxbury Mill Corporation finished construction on a mile-
and-a-half long mill-dam which spanned the width of the Back Bay (following the path of present day Beacon
Street). According to Whitehill, "A cross dam running out from Gravelly Point in Roxbury on a line roughly
corresponding to the present Massachusetts Avenue, subdivided this area into a westerly full basin and an
easterly receiving basin."" The 1832 Hales Map of Roxbury depicts nine "City Mills" and a cable factory
clustered around the damn’s outflow, and an iron foundry out on the low lying spit, known as "Gravelly Point."
Owing to insufficient water power, this scheme failed by the close of the 1840s, although the "conversion of the
submerged territory into dry land by the mill-dam resulted in the rapid growth of the city in that direction."'?

On September 10, 1832, Tremont Street, the second major artery connecting Boston and Roxbury, opened. This
lone causeway traversing Roxbury Flats ran parallel to and north of Washington Street. Northampton Street, a
major cross street linking the canal terminus to Tremont Street also opened in that year. The Neck’s land mass
steadily expanded through the 1830s, and by the close of that decade two additional boulevards straddled
Washington Street - Shawmut Avenue to the north and a thoroughfare, later named "Harrison Avenue,"” to the
south. In 1834, Lower Roxbury’s industrial base was substantially bolstered by the opening of the Boston and
Providence Railroad, whose causeway crossed the salt marsh north of Tremont Street. The advent of rail
transportation marked the death knell of the Roxbury Canal, which was subsequently filled in. An 1856 map of
Roxbury depicts several isolated pockets of salt marsh amidst the expanding web of streets linking the South End
to Lower Roxbury. One such marsh, owned by brothers Horatio and Charles Davis, was situated in the center of
Lower Roxbury, bounded by Cabot Street to the north, Northampton Street to the east, Washington Street to the
south, and Water (now Ruggles) Street to the west. Smelt Brook, acclaimed in the town’s earliest annals for its
"great store of smelts," meandered through this pocket of wet lands.”

The Tremont Improvement Company, a land corporation established by the General Court of Massachusetts in
1859, acquired the Davis Marsh between 1859 and 1863. Led by President Daniel Hammond, and Directors
Francis A. Brooks and Edward Pickering, the Company acquired approximately two-and-a-half acres of this
marsh from the Davis Family for $25,254 on 1 April 1859. This vacant parcel was bounded by the
Roxbury/Boston border to the east (currently Hammond Street), Shawmut Avenue to the south, and Webster
Street to the west, with an expanse of marsh to the north. In 1863, the Davis family sold an abutting acre of
marsh to the Company for $15,970; this parcel was bounded by the Roxbury/Boston border to the east and
Tremont Street to the north. These two transactions account for most of the acreage within the proposed district.

(continued)
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The 1866 plot plan for the Tremont Improvement Company depicts a flat expanse of approximately thirty acres,
bounded by Cabot Street to the north, Kendall Street to the east, Shawmut Avenue to the south, and Ruggles
Street to the west. The filled marsh was neatly platted with eight wide cross streets, most 50 feet in width, and
subdivided into 257 houses lots. Clearly intended for row house development, frontage ranged from 20 to 25
feet and lot depth varied between 64 and 138 feet. While located in Lower Roxbury, this development
represents the westward expansion of the South End planning model. In keeping with this tradition, a grand
143,800 square foot ornamental park, Madison Square, was situated towards the western end of the development.

Property transactions were driven by seller-financed mortgages, typically with a three-year repayment period at
6% interest per annum; construction within the subdivision was regulated by a “"corporation covenant” or deed
restriction placed by the Tremont Improvement Company. This property restriction first appears in a Norfolk
County deed dated November 17, 1866, recording the sale of eight contiguous lots along Hammond Square (later
Hammond Street) to James Tolman.

...that all buildings erected thereon shall be of good class, that the fronis or front walls thereof
shall be set back at least five feet from the line of any streets made by the grantor: and so far
as built upon Hammond Square shall be set back not less than ten feet, and se far as built upon
Madison Square shall be set back not less than eight feet and that all houses fronting upon said
square shall be three stories at least in height and with all other buildings thereon shall as to
their exterior walls be either of brick, stone, or iron, that no buildings upon any lots shall be
used for livery stables, white or blacksmith shops, foundries or any other business prejudicial to
the erection or occupation of dwellings upon adjacent lots and that the lower floor or cellar of
all buildings shall be not less than twelve feet above mean low water mark. And the said
Corporation hereby undertakes and agrees with the grantee to make and finish all streets laid
down on said plan in Roxbury and grade the same at the level of 18 feet above low water mark
and to provide suitable sewers for the drainage of said premises in Roxbury the cost of said
sewers to be apportioned one half to said Company and one half to the several lots abutting
thereon pro rata: all of which is to be done as soon as the buildings shall have been erected
and completed upon the granted premises but these agreements shall not bind the Corporations
as to any streets after the same shall have been accepted by the city."

Acquisition of parcels within the subdivision accelerated following Roxbury’s 1868 annexation to the City of
Boston: The major benefit of annexation "was the introduction of Cochitvate water" which encouraged "a
remarkable rise in the value of (Roxbury’s) real estate."’”® Commenting on Roxbury’s new urban character,
Drake wrote, "The territorial exigencies of the neighboring city of Boston, with whose interests hers have always
been closely identified, have changed all this, and in its stead we now see broad avenues, spacious and well-built
streets, numerous church, school and other public edifices, well-fitted stores, extensive manufacturing
establishments, and a busy population of more than forty thousand souls.""®

The 1873 map of Lower Roxbury depicts several rows of speculative housing within the subdivision;

construction begar in the prestigious Madison Park section of the development. The row houses facing the
square were distinguished by mansard roofs, bow fronts, and high stoops; several were constructed with marble

{continued)
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facades. The district’s earliest institutional structure, the Sherwin School (no longer extant), was also constructed
prior to 1873; it was sited in the center of the block bounded by Sterling, Warwick, Windsor, and Madison
streets. 71-75 Windsor Street (1866-73), the oldest extant single-family row houses within the district,

represent a more modest version of the homes once found in the Madison Square section.

The Frederick Douglass Square Historic District is best known for its picturesque row houses developed by
Robert Treat Paine, Jr. (1835-1910), a national leader among post-Civil War social reformers. Of the district’s
116 surviving structures, seventy-seven are attributed to Paine’s philanthropic activity. Dating between 1886 and
1890, these diminutive single-family dwellings include: 1-38 Sussex Street; 10-57 Greenwich Street, 23-37
Greenwich Court; 14-50 Warwick Street; 77-85 Windsor Street; and 68-88 Hammond Street.

Namesake and great-grandson of a signer of the Declaration of Independence, Robert Treat Paine, Jr. occupied a
secure position in the upper stratum of Boston’s social elite. A graduate of Harvard College (1855) and Harvard
Law School (1856), Paine forged important friendships with classmates Phillips Brooks, Rector of Trinity Church
from 1869 - 1891, Theodore Lyman, and famed geologist Alexander Agassiz. Following extended travel through
Europe, Paine practiced law and rapidly accumulated great weaith through investments in Mid-West copper
mines and railroads. Paine was a lead investor in the Chicago, Burlington and Quincy Railroad in Hlinois; the
Burlington and Missouri Railroad in Nebraska; the Achison, Topeka and Santa Fe Railroad in New Mexico; and
the Mexican Central Railroad. In 1860, Paine married Lydia Williams Lyman (1837-1897), who bore him seven
children,

President of the Associated Charities of Boston from its 1878 founding until 1907, Paine was a major advocate
of private philanthropy. He believed "the efforts of the well-to-do to improve the general condition of social
life, especially in its lower levels, are to command the Ioyal aid of the noblest natures."” Paine appears to have
been a member of the "reformist gentry,"” a group defined by social historian Geoffrey Blodgett as having an
"urge to focus professional intelligence on goals of social order and cohesion."'® At best enlightened, at worst
paternalistic, this well-intentioned elite held in common "assumptions about the design of a good society, where
hierarchy, deference, and skilled leadership might impose tranquillity on a contentious, egalitarian people."'”
Hoping to eradicate the evils of urban America, the reformist gentry focused on unsanitary and densely-occupied
housing of slum districts largely inhabited by unskilled immigrants. The poverty which spawned these slums
was attributed to low morals, human inefficiency and lack of thrift. Wary of disease, particularly the highly
communicable tuberculosis, and the potential for social unrest, reformers believed that "a large number of home
owners was a safeguard against violent movements of social discontent."” Having identified home ownership
as the salvation for the urban poor, reformers encouraged the establishment of building and loan associations,
championed the virtue of thrift, developed adult education programs, and ultimately financed the construction of
low-income housing.

"Purpose-built” dwellings for the working classes, whether speculative or philanthropic, were a nineteenth-century
innovation.”’ Boston’s philanthropic housing era dates from 1846, "when a public meeting was held at the
Warren Street Chapel in the South Cove, one of the poorest neighborhoods of Boston, to discuss housing
conditions in this and other crowded parts of the city."* Led by Charles Eliot Norton, this movement

(continued)
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examined English forms of model housing, particularly those financed by the Society for Improving the
Condition of the Labouring Classes. In 1854, Norton and his associates founded the Mode] Lodging House
Association; the following year they erected two five-story brick structures, known as Osborn Place, in the South
Cove. These multi-family structures held four small rental units per floor. Generating a 6% return on
investment, the success of these two structures spurred the 1870s construction of four model lodging houses in
the South End on East Canton Street. In 1871, Henry Ingersoll Bowditch, a doctor and professor at Harvard
Medical School, became Boston’s leading advocate for philanthropic housing, founding the Boston Cooperative
Building Company. During his travels to England in 1868, Bowditch was impressed with the efforts of leading
housing reformers Sidney Waterlow and Octavia Hill. Hill had established a graduated housing systemn whereby
poor tenants were "rewarded for proper behavior by the opportunity to live in progressively larger and more
commodious dwellings."”® Not content merely to provide housing for the poor, British reformers also hoped to
influence behavior and morals. One historian described the English system as a " training school for the
inculcation of middle-class virtues among the lower, but aspiring orders."** This paternalism permeated nascent
reform efforts in the United States.

Bowditch’s initial foray into philanthropic housing involved the renovation of a downtown structure, the Lincoln
Building, into sixty apartment units. The failure of this venture in 1874 was used by many reformers to
denigrate communal forms of housing, specifically apartment buildings, tenements, and family hotels, in favor of
single-family residences. The Directors of the Boston Cooperative Building Company concluded, "A building of
so great size and constructed as the Lincoln Building is, with passages, stairways, and water conveniences in
common was totally unfit for the proper lodging of those human beings who need the oversight of others to keep
them."™ Following an ill-fated experiment with single~family houses in suburban Dorchester, Bowditch
ultimately focused on the construction of three-family row houses along Massachusetts Avenue, in the South
End. Intended to be an intermediary step towards home ownership, these pleasant rental units proved to be so
popular that tenants stayed for decades, thus thwarting the reformers’ ultimate social goal.

According to his memoirs, Paine’s interest in "better homes for the masses of plain people” dates from 1870,
With great zeal, he visited Boston tenements, noting the minimum standards of light, air, and sanitation a
community would tolerate. Paine’s progressive program encouraged poor families “to move out of damp cellars
into sunny rooms; move out of dens of disease into healthier quarters; move out of abodes of vice into purer
streets; and finally to move from city to country."?® In 1882, Paine was named chairman of the Associated
Charities’ Committee on Dwellings of the Poor; the following year he met Octavia Hiil during a visit to
England. Soon afterward Paine committed his own resources towards the construction of row houses for
"substantial workingmen." '

Paine selected the single-family brick yow house as the basic form for his Lower Roxbury development. He
rejected the multi-family lodging house, citing concerns about contagious disease and family privacy.
Philadelphia’s housing reform activity substantially influenced his approach towards housing the urban poor.

"Philadelphia is justly called the "City of Homes." Spread out over an immense territory, it is full of

small streets, built solid with snug little inexpensive houses for workingmen. Rarely or almost never do
you see a tenement house; that worst curse of city life..."”

{continued)
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Consistent with the home ownership ideal, Paine sold, not rented, these single-family row houses to the working
poor. Single family homes "promote(d) the independence of character and life, which lies at the root of thrift,
and they offer the safest investment, easiest to understand, acquire, preserve and improve."®® Paine’s row

houses sold for $2,500; a transaction typically accomplished with a down payment of $1,000 and a mortgage of
81,500 payable in five years at 5%.” Paine later reminisced, "I have caused some two hundred houses, largely
for single families, to be built and sold, greatly aided in all these enterprises by the wise advice and the
indefatigable supervision of my friend, George W. Pope, who took the whole practical charge of construction and
sale; my share being chiefly that of working out plans for greater comfort and decency of the occupants.™?

A native of Kennebunkport, Mainc, George W. Pope (1822-1896) began his architectural career as a mason.
Achieving prominence as an architect and builder following Boston’s Great Fire of 1872, Pope erected
approximately fifty mercantile buildings as part of the commercial district’s reconstruction. In addition to his
work in Lower Roxbury, Pope collaborated with Paine on philanthropic housing projects in Jamaica Plain and
Dorchester. He served as president of the Trustees of Boston City Hospital for thirteen years and at the time of
his death was vice president of the Workingmen’s Building Association and president of the Penny Savings
Bank. Surviving Boston examples of Pope’s design include the row of brownstone row houses at 144-148
Commonwealth Avenue (1876-80); and mercantile buildings at 26-32 Lincoln Street (1885); 115-119 Pearl Street
(1885); and 11-17 East Street (1892).

Lesser-known architects represented in the Frederick Douglass District include: Benjamin J. Connolly, E. R.
Fernold, Antoine Xavier, Thomas R. White, and Henry P. Hall. Acting as both architect and builder, Benjamin
J. Connolly erected the row houses at 102-108 Hammend Street and 1-9 Warwick Street. Connolly’s three-
family brick dwellings are well-represented in both Dorchester and Roxbury. The career of E. R. Fernold,
architect and builder of 2-8 Greenwich Street, also focused on the construction of brick row houses in Roxbury.
Antoine Xavier, designer of the large family hotel at the corner of 66 Hammond and 11 Westminster Street,
was a successful contractor, erecting masonry row houses in the Chester Park section of the South End, on-
Newbury Street, and in the Saint Botolph district. Thomas R. White, architect of 64 Hammond Street, is
credited with the design and development of many brick apartment buildings in the Fenway. Henry P. Hall,
designer of the ornate, comer apartment building at 60 Hammeond and 12 Westminster Street, practiced
architecture in Boston from 1865 to 1905. Active in the reconstruction of Boston’s commercial district
following the 1872 fire, none of his mercantile buildings survive.

Paine’s goal of home ownership for substantial workingmen was achieved, albeit briefly. A review of late-19th
century atlases and city directories reveals a district of owner-occupied row houses populated predominantly by
Irish-American families, with French Canadian and German families represented to a lesser extent. A sampling
from the 1895 Boston City Directory indicates the district’s adult males were employed as hairdressers, waiters,
surgical instrument makers, clerks, laborers, piano makers, grocers, tailors, janitors, and book keepers,

The 1910 Federal Census records a dramatic shift in Lower Roxbury’s demographics, a change attributed to the
wide-scale migration of southern Black families to northern urban centers. The faiture of the cotton crop due to
boll weevil infestation destroyed the livelihood of many southern sharecroppers and others dependent on the
cotton textile indusiry. Populated by transplanted natives of Georgia, Virginia, and the Carolinas, this district

(eontinued)
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lost its distinction as a predominantly owner-occupied neighborhood during the first decade of this century.
Employment opportunities for transplanted southerners appear to have been limited to such service-related
positions as porters, butlers, waiters, stewards, and barbers for men, and ladies’ maids, domestics and laundresses
for women. A local resident reminisced about the employment opportunities available to Boston’s Blacks during
the first half of the 20th century. ' '

"Black men either remained in ditches on construction jobs, or tried to become waiters, etc. A good number
of Blacks worked for the railroad, as did my father, mainly as porters or waiters on the trains. The porters,
waiters, and other workers established the Pullman Porter’s Union, a large union having an office on
Yarmouth Street (South End near Lower Roxbury) for many years, and which was all Black. It was the
only union Boston Blacks belonged to until recent times."”’

This area’s second wave of Black settlement is associated with World War 11 when,

"skilled and unskiiled laborérs came from all parts of the country to New England to work in industrial
plants, army posts, armories, and shipyards. Black soldiers and sailors in all branches of the service came to
Boston during the war years, and a great many decided to remain once the hostilities were over. Asa
consequence, Boston’s black population nearly doubled in only a decade, rising from some 23,000 in 1940 to
over 40,000 in 1950."*

In addition to native-born African Americans, Lower Roxbury also attracted immigrants from Jamaica and the
Bahamas; as one resident noted, "A lot of families who lived there had at least one West Indian parent,
sometimes two."? Today, this neighborhood remains a predominantly African-American community. From its
private, charity-based origins, to the public housing projects of the 1970s which encircle it today, the Frederick
Douglass Square District provides an interesting contrast in the changing attltudes towards and the architectural
solutions for housing the urban poor.

Archaeological Significance

In order to determine site specific information for the Frederick Douglass Square Historic District a geotechnical
study of the area would be needed. This would aid in the Palecenvironmental reconstruction of the area before
and during the sea-level rise. Any surviving prehistoric sites located in the Boston area would be significant to
the archaeological record. Due to the development and urbanization of Boston, many prehistoric sites have been
destroyed. Most of the identified prehistoric sites in Boston are located on the islands in the harbor, and any
prehistoric survivals located in Boston Proper or on the mainland could contribute valuable data to the
archaeological record. Site 19-SU-77 addressed several research questions concerning prehistoric settiement in
the southwest Boston basin, Middle/Late Archaic resource use, and prehistoric site survival. Other important
research questions in New England concern coastal adaptations, and the subsistence and settlement of indigenous
populations on the constantly changing shoreline. The location of any prehistoric survivals in the Frederick
Douglass Square Historic District would be highly significant.

(continued)
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LIST OF ARCHITECTS

| Architect Street Address 1

Connolly, Benjamin J. 102 Hammound St.
: 104 Hammond St,
106 Hammeond St.
108 Hammeond St.
1 Warwick St.
3 Warwick St.
5 Warwick St.
7 Warwick St.
9 Warwick St.

Fernold, E. R. 2 Greenwich St.
4 Greenwich St.
6 Greenwich St.
8 Greenwich St.

Hall, Hayward P. 46 Hammond St.
12 Westminster

Pope, George W. 23 Greenwich Ct.
23 Greenwich Ct.
27 Greenwich Ct.
29 Greenwich Ct.
31 Greenwich Ct.
33 Greenwich Ct.
35 Greenwich Ct.
37 Greenwich Ct.
10 Greenwich St.
12 Greenwich St.
13 Greenwich St.
14 Greenwich St.
15 Greenwich St.
16 Greenwich St.
17 Greenwich St.
18 Greenwich St.
19 Greenwich St.
20 Greenwich St.
21 Greenwich St.
22 Greenwich St.
24 Greenwich St.
26 Greenwich St.
28 Greenwich St.
30 Greenwich St. (continued)
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32 Greenwich St.
) 34 Greenwich St.
(continued). 36 Greenwich St.
' 38 Greenwich St,
39 Greenwich St.
40 Greenwich St.
41 Greenwich St.
43 Greenwich St.
45 Greenwich St.
47 Greenwich St.
49 Greenwich St.
31 Greenwich St.
53 Greenwich St.
55 Greenwich 5t.
57 Greenwich St.
68 Hammond St.
70 Hammond St.
72 Hammond St.
74 Hammeond St.
76 Hammond St.
78 Hammond St.
80 Hammeond St.
1 Sussex St.
3 Sussex St.
5 Sussex St.
6 Sussex St.
7 Sussex St.
8 Sussex St.
22 Sussex St.
24 Sussex St.
26 Sussex St.
28 Sussex St.
30 Sussex St.
32 Sussex St.
34 Sussex St,
36 Sussex St
38 Sussex St
14 Warwick St.
15 Warwick St.
16 Warwick St.
17 Warwick St
18 Warwick St.
19 Warwick St,
20 Warwick St,
21 Warwick St.
23 Warwick St, {continued)

Pope, George W.
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Pope, George W,
(continued)

Wetmore, G. H.
White, Thomas R.

Xavier, Austin

unknown

{end of

32 Warwick St.
36 Warwick St.
38 Warwick St.
40 Warwick St.
42 Warwick St.
44 Warwick St.
46 Warwick St.
48 Warwick St.
77 Windsor St.
79 Windsor St.
81 Windsor St.
83 WindsorSt,
85 Windsor St,

62 Hammond St.

64 Hammﬁnd' St.

60 Hammond St.

11 Westminster

994 Cabot St.
996 Cabot St.
998 Cabot St.

36 Hammond St.

86 Hammond St.
88 Hammond St.
90 Hammond St.
92 Hammond St.
94 Hammond St.
96 Hammond St.
71 Windsor St.
73 Windsor St.
75 Windsor St.

1002 Tremont St.

Section 8)

Frederick Douglass Square Historic District
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10.  GEOGRAPHICAL DATA

Verbal Boundary Description

The Frederick Douglass Historic District is an isolated brick row house nucleus, partially encircled by low-rise
public housing units which, in turn, are bounded by three major surface arteries: Tremont Street to the north,
Melnea Cass Boulevard to the west, and Shawmut Avenue to the south. The boundaries of the district are
described below.

Beginning at the southeastern corner of the lot at 36 Hammond Street proceed northwest approximately 700 feet
along the front property lines of the lots from 36 - 108 Hammeond Street to the northeastern corner of the last.
Then proceed along the northern bound of 108 Hammond Street to its northwestern corner. Then proceed
approximately 75 feet along the rear property lines of the lots at 108 - 102 Hammond Street and 1 and 3
Warwick Street to the north east corner of the last. Then proceed north west approximately 75 feet along the
eastern property line of the lot at 994 Cabot Street; then proceed diagonally across Cabot Street to the south east
comner of the lot at 1002 Tremont Street. Then proceed along the eastern bound, front property line, and western
bound of the lot at 1002 Tremont Street. Then proceed in a south east direction across Cabot Streetf to the north
west corner of the lot at 998 Cabot Streef; proceed approximately 75 feet along the western property line of
same. Then proceed south west approximately 100 feet along the rear property lines of the lots at 9 - 23
Warwick Street to the north west corner of the last. Then proceed approximately 75 feet along the western
property line of 23 Warwick Street. Then cross Warwick Street and proceed in a south west direction
approximately 350 feet along the eastern curb of Warwick Street to the corner of Windsor Street. Then proceed
south east approximately 125 feet along the front property lines of the lots from 85 - 71 Windsor Street o the
south east corner of the last. Then proceed along thé eastern bound of 71 Windsor Street approximately 75 feet
to the lot’s north east corner. Then proceed in a south east direction approximately 100 feet along the terminus
of Greenwich Court and along the southern bound of 29 Greenwich Coutt to its south eastern corner. Then
proceed north east approximately 150 feet along the eastern bound of the lot at 13 Greenwich Street and cross
Greenwich Street. Then proceed approximately 100 feet in a south east direction along the front property lines
of the lots at 12 - 2 Greenwich Street to the south east corner of the last. Then cross Westminster Street and
proceed in a south east direction approximately 80 feet along the rear property lines of the lots at 46 - 36
Hammond Street to the south west corner of the last. Then proceed approximately 50 feet along the south
eastern bound of 36 Hammond Street to the point of origin.

Boundary Justification

The Frederick Douglass Historic District is a homogeneous district of late-19th century brick row houses and
apartment buildings. The boundaries were drawn to include all surviving 19th-century buildings erected on land
platted by the Tremont Improvement Company in 1366. The district excludes post-1945 resources, specifically
the low-rise public housing projects on Hammond and Warwick Streets, the circa-1955 community center at 90
Warwick Street, and the circa-1970 church at 53 Windsor Street.

(end)
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